IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-2251

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND,

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{v} .

AMERICAN EDUCATIONAL ENTERPRISES, LLC,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL MORRIS
Law Offices of Paul Morris, P.A.
9350 South Dixie Highway, Suite 1450
Miami, FL 33156
305-670-1441
Email: paulappeal@aol.com

RICHARD ALAYON
Alayon & Associates, P.A.
4551 Ponce de Leon Blvd.
Coral Gables, FL 33146
305-221-2110

Email: ralayon@alayonlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund ("Board"), is seeking review of the decision of the Third District which granted a petition for a writ of common law certiorari filed by the respondent, American Educational Enterprises, LLC ("American"). The Third District quashed the trial court's order compelling American to provide supplemental discovery.

The Board sought review in this Court, contending that the decision of the Third District conflicts with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal concerning a district court's review of a pretrial discovery order by common law certiorari as to the following: the governing standard and determination of jurisdiction for such review; the significance of a trial court's order fashioning confidentiality safeguards; and whether having to produce financial information warrants certiorari review.

This Court granted review and this is the Board's initial brief on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Board seeks review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District in *American Educational Enterprises, LLC v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund*, 45 So. 3d 941 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) ("AEE"). (R. 582-590). In that decision, the Third District granted a petition for writ of certiorari filed by American and quashed the trial court's order compelling American to provide supplemental discovery to the Board in a lawsuit arising from American's purchase of state-owned real property.

The Board is the entity responsible for the disposition of property owned by the State of Florida.² The Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("FDEP") acts as the Board's staff in the disposition process.³ The property in question (consisting of a lot with a building and an adjacent lot) was purchased by the state for \$3,750,000 in 1994 for use by the Department of Corrections primarily as a treatment facility for substance abuse offenders. The facility became known as Glenbeigh Hospital. (R. 112). The state decided to sell the property and in

¹ The symbol "R" designates the pages of the 3-volume 590-page record prepared and indexed by the clerk of the Third District.

² See § 253.03, Florida Statutes (2010).

³ See 253.002(1), Florida Statutes (2010).

December of 2000, invitations to bid on the property were issued.⁴ At the time, the state was prohibited by statute from selling land below its purchase price.⁵

Frank Andreu, the vice-president of Florida National College ("College"), had conducted a years-long search for a property to serve as the College's campus. Andreu visited the property at issue in February of 2001 when he learned that it was for sale. (R. 51-2). The College was informed that the initial attempt to sell the property resulted in bids which were all below the statutory minimum and therefore rejected. (R. 51, 68-9). On April 2, 2001, the College submitted an unsolicited offer to purchase the property for \$4,000,000. (R. 50, 68-9, 90). That offer was not acted upon. Instead, a second bidding process commenced. On April 18, 2001, bidding packages were sent to prospective purchasers, including the College, who were informed that bids would be accepted until April 27, 2001. (R. 52, 96-104, 113).

Each bidding package disclosed that the property was being offered "as is" and at a minimum price of \$3,750,000. (R. 97). The bidding package further disclosed: the property's tax assessed value (\$4,642.063); the need for repairs; that the buyer was responsible for financing; that a site inspection would be arranged

⁴ Sale of state-owned surplus land is by competitive bidding. *See* Florida Administrative Code R. 18-2.020(2)(b).

⁵ See § 253.034(6), Florida Statutes (2001). See also R. 51 at \P 7.

upon request; and that each prospective buyer "should independently verify all facts related to this property." (R. 97-9). The Board was in possession of appraisals for the property but did not include them in the bidding package because they had been conducted two or more years prior to the bidding process. (R. 51). The College was afforded access to the property. Indeed, several contractors acting on behalf of the College conducted an on-site inspection. (R. 51-2).

On April 23, 2001, the College submitted a bid without first seeking its own appraisal. (R. 51-2, 71). The second bidding process resulted in only two bids: \$4,025,000 from the College and \$4,000,000 from Edison, another educational institution. The College's higher bid, along with its 10% deposit, were accepted and the parties executed a purchase and sale contract in the amount of the winning bid. (R. 51-2, 71, 115, 117-18). Thereafter, the College sought financing through Citibank which requested an appraisal from FDEP. After FDEP sent Citibank a 1999 appraisal which valued the property at \$3,275.000 (R. 6), the College requested that FDEP modify the contract to reflect a lower purchase price. FDEP responded that the terms and conditions of the executed contract were nonnegotiable and that pursuant to the contract, the College had the choice of either closing the transaction or forfeiting its 10% deposit. (R. 551B). The College

responded that it would comply with the terms of the contract and a closing took place. (R. 67). The College obtained financing through Citibank. (R. 6).

Thereafter, the College assigned its rights under the contract to American. (R. 3). American sued the Board, claiming negligent misrepresentation, fraud in the inducement, and unjust enrichment. American also sought reformation of the contract, contending that it made a "mistake" by paying \$4,025,000 for the property, having relied upon the Board's misrepresentations as to the value of the property. (R. 32-47). The Board filed its answer, affirmative defenses, and counterclaim. (R. 48-118).

The Board served subpoenas upon Citibank seeking production of the underlying financial information submitted by the College to obtain the financing. The parties entered into a "Stipulated Confidentiality Agreement" (R. 552-54) which was approved by order of the trial court. (R. 571). The confidentiality agreement provided in pertinent part that the financial information disclosed to the Board would be treated as confidential, could be used as needed for the defense or prosecution of the claims in this case, and would be destroyed within 30 days of termination of the case. (R. 553). Thereafter, the financial information sought was provided to the Board.⁶ It is not disputed that the disclosures included what

⁶ The financial information disclosed to the Board was neither submitted to or requested by the Third District.

American deemed to be its *private* financial information.⁷ The financial disclosures included the following documents: for the years 1998-2004, the College's independent auditor's reports, balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flow, tax returns; for the same years, American's balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flow, and tax returns; and for the years 2001-08, underlying information for the College's budgets. *AEE*, 45 So. 3d at 943.

Subsequently, the Board served a request for production seeking 10 items, including supplemental discovery updating the financial information already disclosed. (R. 134-42). American filed objections (R. 143-48), claiming that the financial information sought was irrelevant and private. The matter came on for hearing before the trial judge upon the Board's motion to compel production and American's objections. (R. 191-207). The Board produced an affidavit of a CPA and an expert appraiser opining that the financial information was properly sought to defend against American's claims for economic damages. (R. 180-83; *see also AEE*, 45 So. 3d at 944). The Board also argued that American could not properly claim any harm to its alleged privacy rights because of the confidentiality agreement reached by the parties and approved by the trial court. (R. 197-98).

⁷ In the Third District, American itself described its disclosure as consisting of "American's *private*, financial information, including American's income statements and statements of cash flows and federal tax returns...". (R. 574) (e.s.).

American responded that it would not be seeking general economic damages as alleged in the complaint, but would limit its damages to any difference between the contract purchase price and the alleged value of the property at the time of the purchase. (R. 198-200). The Board replied that notwithstanding American's representation to limit its damages, the Board's position that this property had a unique value to this College based upon its projected profits, that both the College and Board were aware of this value, and that the financial information sought would assist in appraising the property and supporting the Board's defenses. (R. 202-04).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial judge granted the Board's discovery request in part and denied it in part. (R. 205). The judge ordered American to provide items 1-7 of the Board's request for production. (R. 205). The trial judge denied the Board's requests for disclosure of items 8-10.9 *Id*.

⁸ The seven items ordered produced are: (1) independent auditor's reports for Florida National College [College] for the years 2005-07; (2) the College's balance sheets, income statements and statements of cash flows for the years 2006-07; (3) the College's federal income tax returns for the years 2005-07; (4) the budgets prepared by the College for 2001-08; (5) the balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows for American Educational Enterprises, LLC for 2006-07; (6) the federal income tax returns for American Educational Enterprises for the years 2001, 2002, and 2005-07; and (7) all financial reports filed with the Department of Education. *See AEE*, 45 So. 3d at 943.

⁹ Requests 8-10 sought the certificate of occupancy, enrollment records, and American's loan request package submitted to the lender(s). (R. 142).

American challenged the discovery order in the Third District in a petition for writ of common law certiorari. American argued that the updated financial information ordered disclosed by the trial judge was "patently overbroad, irrelevant, and unduly burdensome," as well as violative of American's right to privacy. (R. 15-16). American's petition failed to mention its prior financial disclosures or the trial court's order approving the parties' confidentiality agreement.

The Board responded that American could not make the necessary jurisdictional showing of material or irreparable injury given that American had already disclosed to the Board similar financial information and because the parties stipulated to the confidentiality of American's financial information which the trial court adopted in an order. (R. 564). The Board also contended that certiorari relief would not lie simply upon American's claim that the discovery sought was irrelevant or overbroad. (R. 562). The Board also argued that even if the merits of American's petition could be reached, the financial information sought was "relevant," as that term is broadly defined in the discovery context, because such discovery was reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence. (R. 568). In particular, the Board claimed that the financial information was pertinent to determining the value of the property, and would also support its defense against American's cause of action for reformation of the purchase and sale agreement by showing that American's successful bid was not a "mistake" made in reliance upon alleged misrepresentations as to the value of the property, but was the product of an informed business decision based upon historical and projected budgetary and other financial information which proved to be correct. (R. 568-69).

The Third District granted the petition for writ of certiorari and quashed the trial court's discovery order. In its factual recitation, the Third District acknowledged the existence of the confidentiality agreement and the trial court's approval thereof, AEE, 45 So. 3d at 943, but did not discuss the agreement thereafter. Nor did the Third District address American's burden to demonstrate irreparable injury. Instead, the Third District proceeded to the merits of American's petition on the basis that "... certiorari is the proper remedy for overbroad discovery orders...". AEE, 45 So. 3d at 944. The Third District reasoned that the trial court's order was overbroad for two reasons, first, by compelling disclosure of financial documents dated from 2005 to 2007 that "do not fall within the time frame of the subject matter of the case," and second, by requiring "disclosure of corporate financial documents without regard to the issues involved in the case." AEE, 45 So. 3d at 944-45.

The Third District also rejected the Board's contention that the discovery was pertinent to its defense of American's reformation claim, ruling that the financial information sought was "several years far removed" from American's

decision to purchase the property in 2001. Finally, the Third District concluded that the discovery was not relevant to damages because American was only seeking out-of-pocket damages and that the discovery ordered was not relevant to that issue. *AEE*, 945 So. 3d at 945-46.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

During pretrial discovery, the parties entered into a confidentiality agreement to protect American's alleged privacy rights with regard to financial discovery. The trial court approved the agreement. Thereafter, American provided to the Board its private, financial information, primarily for the years 1998-2004 (but also underlying budgetary information through 2008). Subsequently, the Board requested updated financial information, primarily for the years 2005-07, but this time, American objected, claiming the request was overbroad, irrelevant, and a violation of American's right to privacy. The Board moved to compel production. Following a hearing, the trial court ordered American to provide the updated discovery.

American filed in the Third District a petition for writ of common law certiorari seeking review of the discovery order. The Board responded that the Third District lacked jurisdiction to reach the merits of American's petition because there could be no showing of material injury resulting in irreparable harm, particularly in view of the trial court's order of confidentiality and the previous voluntary disclosures by American of its private financial information. The Board also argued that a mere claim of lack of relevance or overbreadth could not support certiorari relief. Nevertheless, the Third District granted certiorari relief and quashed the trial court's order on the grounds that the order was overbroad and that

the updated financial discovery was not relevant. The Third District did not address the Board's claim of lack of jurisdiction.

A party seeking certiorari review of a nonfinal order must show material injury resulting in irreparable harm in order to invoke the jurisdiction of the appellate court. In fact, in reviewing a petition for writ of certiorari, the appellate court must first address this jurisdictional issue. Where the petitioner fails to make the required jurisdictional showing, the appellate court must dismiss the petition without reaching the merits.

The Third District should have dismissed the petition for lack of jurisdiction without reaching the merits for two reasons. First, American had already voluntarily disclosed to the Board the bulk of its private financial information and the trial court's order merely ordered American to update that prior disclosure. Second, American voluntarily entered into a confidentiality agreement with the Board which was approved by the trial court, thereby protecting American's claimed privacy interests. Thus, American could not show material injury resulting in irreparable harm and the Third District therefore lacked jurisdiction.

Moreover, certiorari relief is not available for mere allegations, such as those made by American, that a discovery order is overbroad or that the information sought is not relevant. Furthermore, the petitioner must demonstrate a departure

from the essential requirements of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice. No such showing was made here by American.

Finally, even if the merits of American's certiorari petition could have been reached, nothing about the ordered disclosure was overbroad. American had already disclosed private financial information, primarily for the years 1998-2004. The trial court's order merely required a supplemental updated disclosure of similar information for the few years thereafter. Furthermore, American's relevancy argument fails because the financial information ordered disclosed was reasonably calculated to lead to evidence admissible as to the Board's defenses.

This Court's decisions have repeatedly emphasized that common law certiorari is an extraordinary remedy with a narrow scope. In square conflict with this Court's pronouncements, the decision of the Third District improperly broadens the scope of common law certiorari and if allowed to stand, will undoubtedly encourage the filing of petitions seeking review of pretrial discovery orders based solely upon claims of overbreadth or irrelevance and in the absence of irreparable harm, even where the trial court has fashioned protections against any harm.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT EXCEEDS THE SCOPE OF **CERTIORARI COMMON** LAW BY **GRANTING AMERICAN'S PETITION** THE **COURT'S AND QUASHING** TRIAL **ORDER COMPELLING DISCOVERY** WHERE: **AMERICAN FAILED** TO ESTABLISH CERTIORARI JURISDICTION BY SHOWING MATERIAL INJURY RESULTING IN IRREPARABLE HARM; THE FINANCIAL DISCOVERY ORDERED DOES NOT RISE TO THE LEVEL OF MATERIAL HARM THAT PERMITS CERTIORARI REVIEW; THE TRIAL COURT FASHIONED SAFEGUARDS TO PREVENT ANY HARM TO AMERICAN; AMERICAN'S MERE CLAIMS OF OVERBREADTH AND IRRELEVANCE DO NOT WARRANT CERTIORARI RELIEF; AND **DISCOVERY** THE FINANCIAL **APPEARS** REASONABLY CALCULATED TO LEAD TO THE DISCOVERY OF ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE.

A. THE REQUIREMENTS FOR COMMON LAW CERTIORARI RELIEF

In *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc.*, 889 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 2004), this Court reiterated the familiar requirements for common law certiorari relief:

It is well settled that to obtain a writ of certiorari, there must exist "(1) a departure from the essential requirements of the law, (2) resulting in material injury for the remainder of the case (3) that cannot be corrected on postjudgment appeal."

Id. at 822 (quoting Bd. of Regents v. Snyder, 826 So. 2d 382, 387 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)) (citing Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957)). This Court went on to discuss the limited availability and extraordinary nature of certiorari relief as follows:

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(b)(2)(A) provides: "The certiorari jurisdiction of district courts of appeal may be sought to

review non-final orders of lower tribunals other than as prescribed by rule 9.130...." Fla. R.App. P. 9.030(b)(2)(A). This Court has held that "common law certiorari is an extraordinary remedy and should not be used to circumvent the interlocutory appeal rule which authorizes appeal from only a few types of non-final orders." Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So.2d 1097, 1098 (Fla.1987); see also Belair v. Drew, 770 So.2d 1164, 1166 (Fla.2000); Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc., 720 So.2d 214, 214-15 (Fla.1998). Further, we have written: "A nonfinal order for which no appeal is provided by Rule 9.130 is reviewable by petition for certiorari only in limited circumstances." Martin-Johnson, Inc., 509 So.2d at 1099; see also Brooks v. Owens, 97 So.2d 693, 695 (Fla.1957) ("This court will review an interlocutory order in law only under exceptional circumstances."). Limited certiorari review is based upon the rationale that "piecemeal review of nonfinal trial court orders will impede the orderly administration of justice and serve only to delay and harass." Jaye, 720 So.2d at 215. As the appellate rules committee commented on the interaction of rules 9.030 and 9.130:

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