# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-2251

### BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND,

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN EDUCATIONAL ENTERPRISES, LLC,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court Of Appeal, State of Florida, No. 3D09-3492

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS**

Elio F. Martinez, Jr. Florida Bar No. 501158 Scott A. Burr Florida Bar No. 0099325 CONCEPCION MARTINEZ & BELLIDO 255 Aragon Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 444-6669 Facsimile: (305) 444-3665

Counsel for Respondent American Educational Enterprises, LLC

# **

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District properly exercised its discretion in granting *certiorari* review and quashing the pre-trial discovery order in this case that required the wholesale production of confidential, financial documents that were overbroad in temporal scope and not relevant to the issues in the case.

A common-law writ of *certiorari* rests in the sound discretion of the court to which the application was made. Before a court may grant *certiorari* relief from a pre-trial discovery order, the petitioner must establish three elements: (1) a departure from the essential requirements of the law, (2) resulting in material injury for the remainder of the case (3) that cannot be corrected on post-judgment appeal. The Third District properly found that each one of these elements was met by American in this case.

The Third District correctly found that if American was not relieved of the discovery order it would suffer irreparable harm if it was forced to produce confidential, financial information that was overbroad in temporal scope and not relevant to the issues in the case. The Third District analogized the facts of this case to *Redland Co. v. Atl. Civil, Inc.,* 961 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) in which irreparable harm was found and reached the same conclusion here.

While in *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that ordinarily financial discovery did not by itself present the kind of irreparable harm necessary for review by common law *certiorari*, the Court retreated from this hard and fast rule in *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91, 95 (Fla. 1995), when it held that a litigant is not entitled "*carte blanche*" to irrelevant discovery, as here.

The Third District properly found that the "updated" documents sought by Petitioner are irrelevant in that they are overbroad in temporal scope and not related to the issues in the case.

Further, American did not waive its right to object to the production of its confidential, financial documents because of any prior production of documents. An earlier production was made by Citibank, pursuant to a subpoena, to Petitioner of some of American's financial documents, but not by American. In addition, the stipulated confidentiality order in place covers only Citibank's prior production of American's financial records and not this production of documents sought directly from American.

Accordingly, the Third District here was well within its discretion when it held that the trial court's order requiring the wholesale production of irrelevant, confidential, financial documents from American should be quashed for departing from the essential elements of law and causing material injury to American that could not be corrected on post-judgment appeal. American's production of irrelevant, confidential financial documents is unduly burdensome and oppressive, invading American's privacy interest and entitling it to *certiorari* relief.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. Applicable Legal Standards

American agrees with Petitioner as to the applicable legal standard the Third District was obligated to apply to its review of the pretrial discovery order in this case. As this Court enunciated in *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (1987):

A non-final order for which no appeal is provided by Rule 9.130 is reviewable by petition for certiorari only in limited circumstances. The order must depart from the essential requirements of law and thus cause material injury to the petition throughout the remainder of the proceedings below, effectively leaving no adequate remedy on appeal.

*See also Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So.2d 91, 94 (Fla.1995). Discovery of certain kinds of information "may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature." *Martin-Johnson*, 509 So.2d at 1100. This includes "cat out of the bag" material that could be used to injure another person or party outside the context of the litigation, and material protected by privilege, trade secrets, work product, or involving a confidential informant may cause such injury if disclosed. *Id.* 

In considering a petition for *certiorari* the reviewing court's first duty is to assess whether the petitioner has made a *prima facie* showing that the order creates irreparable harm. If the petitioner does not make such a showing, the court lacks jurisdiction and will dismiss the petition. *Williams v. Oken*, 62 So.3d 1129,

1132 (Fla. 2011); *Bared & Co. v. McGuire*, 670 So.2d 153, 157 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (en banc), *cited in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Boecher*, 733 So.2d 993, 999 (Fla. 1999).

Here, the Petitioner disputes that the Third District properly applied this standard. Petitioner is wrong. The Third District did properly apply the controlling law.

#### B. The Third District Court of Appeals Properly Found the Presence of Irreparable Harm to American.

Petitioner argues that the Third District erred by not determining as a threshold matter that American would suffer irreparable harm if required to produce irrelevant, financial information. Petitioner is wrong.

At the outset of its legal analysis, the Third DCA – citing to *Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boecher*, 733 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 1999) and *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987), acknowledged the applicable legal standard that it was required to apply to the discovery order it had on review:

Certiorari review of a discovery order is proper when the order "departs from the essential requirements of law, and thus causes material injury to the petitioner throughout the remainder of the proceedings, effectively leaving no adequate remedy on appeal." *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Boecher*, 733 So.2d 993, 999 (Fla.1999) (quoting *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So.2d 91, 94-95 (Fla.1995)); *see also Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So.2d 1097, 1099 (Fla.1987). "Although not every erroneous discovery order creates certiorari jurisdiction, certiorari is the proper remedy for overbroad discovery orders 'because once discovery is wrongfully granted, the complaining party is beyond relief."

Redland Co. v. Atl. Civil, Inc., 961 So.2d 1004, 1006 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (quoting Caterpillar Indus., Inc. v. Keskes, 639 So.2d 1129, 1129 n. 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)); Caribbean Sec. Sys., Inc. v. Sec. Control Sys., Inc., 486 So.2d 654, 655 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); see also Stihl Se., Inc. v. Green Thumb Lawn & Garden Ctr. Newco, Inc., 974 So.2d 1200, 1201 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008); Royal Caribbean Cruises, Ltd. v. Doe, 964 So.2d 713, 719 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007). The issue whether a discovery order is overbroad must be determined within the context of the facts of each case. See Computer Solutions, Inc. v. Gnaizda, 633 So.2d 1100, 1101 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

45 So. 3d at 944.

The Third DCA then proceeded to analogize the case to Redland Co. v. Atl.

*Civil, Inc.*, 961 So. 2d 1004, 1006-1007 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007):

This case is similar to this Court's decision in *Redland*. In *Redland*, this Court granted certiorari to quash an order compelling discovery of corporate financial documents, holding that the order was overbroad based on both the time frame of the requested documents and the wholesale turnover of documents without regard to the issues in the case. *Id.* at 1004.

45 So. 3d at 944. In Redland, the Third District explicitly found irreparable harm

where the compelled production of financial information involved an overbroad

time frame and the wholesale turnover of documents without regard to the issues of

the case:

The trial court's order departs from the essential requirements of the law by requiring overbroad discovery that will cause <u>material injury</u> to Redland and leave them with no adequate remedy on appeal. First, the order requires the production of tax returns, general ledgers, and supporting documentation from 1997 through the present. This time frame request, however, is unreasonably broad given that the settlement

agreement, which forms the basis of the breach of contract action was not executed by the parties until September 1999. Second, the challenged order requires the wholesale turnover of documents without regard to the issues framed by the alleged breaches of paragraphs five and six of the settlement agreement, and as such we find that the order is overbroad in that respect as well.

We therefore grant the petition and quash the order below.

Emphasis added.

Thus, in finding that this case was analogous to *Redland*, the Third DCA expressly found *ipso facto* the presence of <u>irreparable harm</u> here, which justified its *certiorari* jurisdiction. The harm is irreparable because once confidential information is disclosed, it cannot be "taken back." *Woodward v. Berkery*, 714 So. 2d 1027, 1035 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998) ("[t]he discovery of financial worth information that is not material to any issue reasonably likely to be contested" is incurable by any possible action that can be taken on final appeal). It is "material that could be used by an unscrupulous litigant to injure another person or party outside the context of the litigation." *Martin-Johnson, Inc.*, 509 So.2d at 1100.

Petitioner, however, contends that a "proper determination" of the jurisdictional issue requires review of (1) the type of information ordered disclosed, along with (2) consideration of the trial court's confidentiality order and American's voluntary prior disclosure of its private financial information. Br. at 22. Petitioner's argument is unavailing.

#### 1. The Disclosure of Irrelevant Financial Information Constitutes Irreparable Harm.

Petitioner first asserts that the financial information was of the same type as addressed in *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987) and *Eberhardt v. Eberhardt*, 666 So. 2d 1024, (4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996), which was not found to be protected from disclosure and, that the same result should, therefore, adhere here. Petitioner's argument is unfounded.

Here, Petitioner seeks American's private financial information, including independent auditor's reports, balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flows, budgets, federal income tax returns, and financial reports filed with the Department of Education.<sup>2</sup> A corporation, as a legal entity, possesses a legitimate expectation of privacy in its financial information and corporate records. *See Capco Props., LLC v. Monterey Gardens of Pinecrest Condo.*, 982 So. 2d 1211, 1213-14, 1215 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008) (recognizing a corporation's privacy interests in its financial information, including its financial statements, balance sheets, profit and loss statements, bank accounts, and tax returns); Universal Eng'g Testing Co. v. Israel, 707 So. 2d 900, 901 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998) (specifying that a corporation's tax records and financial statements constitute confidential and proprietary information). Where a discovery order compels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner seeks production of American's private financial information mainly for the years 2005 to 2007, which is, at a minimum, over four years after the sale of the Property.

production of matters which implicate privacy rights, irreparable harm is demonstrated. *See Rasmussen v. S. Fla. Blood Serv., Inc.,* 500 So.2d 533, 536-37 (Fla.1987).

Where the production of documents results in an invasion of privacy rights, the trial judge is "mandated first to require the parties seeking production to 'make a showing of necessity which outweigh[s] the countervailing interests in maintaining the confidentiality of such information." *Banc of America v. Barnett*, 997 So. 2d 1154, 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). "Failure to make this determination constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law." *Banc of America*, 997 So. 2d at 1157.

Unlike in this case, in *Martin-Johnson*, the issue was whether district courts of appeal should review, by *certiorari*, orders denying motions to dismiss or strike claims for punitive damages. The defendant argued that the erroneous refusal to strike an invalid punitive damage claim could result in irreparable injury in that it would permit the plaintiff to inquire into confidential financial information of the defendant. The Court held that ordinarily an order allowing financial worth discovery did not by itself present the kind of irreparable harm necessary for review by common law *certiorari*. 509 So. 2d at 1099. The Court explained that "[i]n *certiorari* proceedings, an order may be quashed only for certain fundamental errors." *Id.* The Court noted that permitting interlocutory review of

these types of orders would unduly interrupt trial court proceedings, and that trial courts had the means to limit dissemination of such private information so as to protect a party from embarrassment or undue burden. *Id.* at 1099–1100.

We do not ignore petitioner's valid privacy interest in avoiding unnecessary disclosure of matters of a personal nature. We believe, however, that our discovery rules provide sufficient means to limit the use and dissemination of discoverable information via protective orders.

*Id.* at  $1100.^3$ 

This rationale, however, has not gone without criticism. Chief Judge

Farmer of the Fourth District wrote in All About Cruises, Inc. v. Cruise Options,

*Inc.*, 889 So. 2d 905, 909 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005) (concurrence):

Make no mistake about it, the supreme court is really saying that the appellate courts can ignore the infringement of important privacy interests created by civil litigation procedures because trial judges have remedial tools available and can therefore be relied on to do the right thing.

Well, if that were true there would be little need for appealsor for appellate courts. The law is filled with remedies. If their very existence were enough to refrain from reviewing a miscarriage of justice arising from their misuse or nonuse, why have any extraordinary review available at all? In what kind of case could we not rely on trial courts doing the right thing with the many tools at hand? For that matter, why bother at all with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Eberhardt v. Eberhardt*, 666 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) involved the production of income tax returns in an action for accounting indistinguishable from the financial worth information sought in *Martin-Johnson*. The Fourth District, constrained by *Martin-Johnson*, held that the mere production of financial worth information without more was insufficient to show irreparable harm. 666 So. 2d at 1025.

any appellate review? Why not just take the erasers off the pencils-or should I say take the delete keys off the word processors- and let authors try to get it right the first time?

This rationale simply won't do. If it is really too disruptive to permit interlocutory review, then we judges should say so. We should make the reasons apparent for limiting review to final judgment. What we should not do is attempt to justify a blanket refusal by implying that trial judges should be relied on to use the rules at hand to correct discovery abuses.

In Capco Properties, LLC v. Monterey Gardens of Pinecrest Condominium,

982 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), Judge Ramirez writing for the

majority said:

The Florida Supreme Court assumes that important privacy interests will be protected by trial judges who have remedial tools available and will presumably do the right thing. But what happens when the trial judge does not do the right thing? Are appellate judges obliged to sit on their hands when totally irrelevant material encompassing six years of extensive and intrusive financial information is ordered to be produced where the plaintiff has not even pled a count for accounting nor moved to amend to assert punitive damages?

Indeed, this Court has retreated from the inflexible rule of Martin-Johnson

in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston, 655 So. 2d 91, 95 (Fla. 1995) when it held:

Although we cannot say that irrelevant materials sought in a discovery request necessarily cause irreparable harm, we do not believe that a litigant is entitled *carte blanche* to irrelevant discovery. We therefore quash the district court decision to the extent that it permits discovery even when it has been affirmatively established that such discovery is neither relevant nor will lead to the discovery of relevant information.

Emphasis added.

Here, the Petitioner seeks the wholesale production of financial information that American has affirmatively established, and the Third District has concluded, "is neither relevant nor will lead to the discovery of relevant information." *See AEE*, 45 So. 3d at 944-946:

There is no record basis justifying disclosure of financial documents for the requested time period when this action involves events which occurred prior to and during June 2001...

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